2000

Montague v. Montague : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is a direct appeal as of right in a domestic relations proceeding in the Third Judicial District Court, in and for Salt Lake County. This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Rule 3, Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

ISSUES, STANDARD OF REVIEW, AND PRESERVATION

I. ARE THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT ITS CONCLUSION THAT THERE OCCURRED A SUBSTANTIAL AND MATERIAL CHANGE IN CIRCUMSTANCES WHICH JUSTIFIES MODIFICATION?

The sufficiency of a trial court's findings of fact is a question of law which should be reviewed for correctness. Wilde v. Wilde, 969 P.2d 438 (Utah Ct. App. 1998); Wells v. Wells, 871 P.2d 1036 (Utah App. 1994). Preservation of the issue at trial is not applicable. State v. Larsen, 999 P.2d 1252 (Utah Ct. App. 2000); ProMax Dev. Corp. v. Mattson, 943 P.2d 247 (Utah. App. 1997).

II. DID THE TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DETERMINING THAT A SUBSTANTIAL AND MATERIAL CHANGE IN CIRCUMSTANCES OCCURRED WHICH JUSTIFIES MODIFICATION?

The trial court's findings should be overturned only if they are clearly erroneous, and only where the trial court's judgment is so flagrantly unjust as to constitute an abuse of discretion. Thomas v. Thomas, 987 P.2d 603 (Utah Ct. App. 1999). However, if the findings are so inadequate that they cannot be meaningfully challenged as factual determinations, the appellant should be relieved of her burden to marshal the evidence. Woodward v. Fazzio, 823 P.2d 474, 477 (Utah Ct. App. 1991). Preservation of the issue at trial is not applicable. Larsen, 999 P.2d 1252 (Utah Ct. App. 2000); ProMax, 943 P.2d 247 (Utah. App. 1997).

III. ARE THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACT SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE ORDER REDUCING MR. MONTAGUE'S ALIMONY OBLIGATION FROM \$600.00 PER MONTH TO \$150.00 PER MONTH?

The sufficiency of a trial court's findings of fact is a question of law which should be reviewed for correctness. Wilde, 969 P.2d 438 (Utah Ct. App. 1998); Wells, 871 P.2d 1036 (Utah App. 1994). Preservation of the issue at trial is not applicable. Larsen, 999 P.2d 1252 (Utah Ct. App. 2000); ProMax, 943 P.2d 247 (Utah. App. 1997).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. NATURE OF THE CASE.

This is an alimony modification case which arises as a result of Mr. Montague's cessation of employment from his longtime employer, the LDS Church, and his corresponding obtainment of new employment at a substantially lower wage than his historical earnings.

2. COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS.

A decree of divorce between the parties was entered on or about December 5, 1996. The decree was the result of a negotiated settlement agreement between the parties, the terms of which, *inter alia*, provided an award of alimony to Ms. Montague in the amount of \$600.00 per month. On October 14, 1998, after experiencing the loss of his long-term employment and a significant reduction in income, Mr. Montague filed a Petition for Modification of Decree of Divorce alleging a substantial and material change in circumstances occurred which warranted downward modification of his alimony obligation. Trial on Mr. Montague's Petition was held on January 5, 2000.

3. DISPOSITION BELOW.

After taking evidence and testimony at the January 5, 2000 trial, the trial Court ordered that Mr. Montague's alimony obligation to Ms. Montague be reduced from \$600.00 per month to \$150.00 per month. No post-trial motions were filed. This appeal ensued.

4. STATEMENT OF FACTS.

At the time of entry of the Decree of Divorce Mr. Montague was employed full time with the LDS Church (the Church) employment office as Supervisor of the Church's Granger Employment Office, and earned a gross income of \$3726.00 per month. (Exhibit 5, Addendum 2). He had been employed by the Church for over twenty years. (R. 10).

On June 26, 1998 Mr. Montague was placed on disciplinary probation, was demoted to the position of employment specialist, and was transferred from the Granger Employment Center to its Bountiful Employment office for reasons relating to poor work performance. (Exhibits 21, 22, Addendum 8, 9). Mr. Montague did not deny the allegations leading up to his disciplinary probation, demotion and transfer. (Id.). Subsequent to his demotion and transfer, and while still on disciplinary probation, issues concerning Mr. Montague's on-the-job conduct and work performance persisted. (R. 99, Exhibit 1, Addendum 1).

Ultimately, on July 13, 1998, a meeting occurred between Mr. Montague and Church human resources personnel, namely Ron Garrison and Dean Walker (Exhibit 1, Addendum 1). At this meeting Mr. Montague was informed that he would not be able to return to the Bountiful office, and was provided with four options: (1) resign from employment, (2) be terminated due to inappropriate conduct and lack of performance, (3) follow the grievance policy of the Church,

or (4) meet with Gary Winters on Friday, July 17, 1998 to discuss his concerns. Mr. Montague was afforded two weeks leave to think about what he wanted to do. (Id.).

After being provided with the four options mentioned above, Mr. Montague made no efforts whatsoever to retain his employment with the Church. (R. 46-48). Instead, on July 27, 1998 Mr. Montague submitted a letter indicating that he was resigning his employment with the Church. (Exhibit 16, Addendum 4, R. 47). At no time after his resignation did Mr. Montague contest or challenge the actions of his employer or the circumstances leading to his resignation. (R. 27). Mr. Montague accepted new employment at a substantially lower salary, approximately \$2083.00 per month. (Exhibits 3, 5, Addendum 2, 3).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACT ARE INADEQUATE TO ALLOW FOR MEANINGFUL REVIEW.

The trial court's findings of fact are conclusory and so insufficiently detailed that they cannot be viewed as legally sufficient. The absence of adequate findings is reversible error and this Court cannot sustain them as supportive of the conclusions of law or the ultimate ruling.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY DETERMINING THAT A CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES OCCURRED WHICH JUSTIFIES MODIFICATION.

Even if the findings of fact are inadequate, the evidence is uncontroverted that (1) Mr. Montague had successfully retained employment with the Church for over twenty years, (2) his own misconduct played a key role in the loss of his employment, (3) he made no attempt to retain his employment even though presented with opportunity to do so, and (4) he never challenged his loss of employment as wrongful. In sum, even marshaling all evidence in favor of the trial

court's ruling, the overwhelming weight of the evidence is such that the trial court abused its discretion in determining that Mr. Montague was terminated by the Church, that "the degree of culpability that would need to be attributed to him in connection with the loss of his job, to deny him the relief he seeks, does not exist", and that a material change in circumstances occurred justifying modification.

III. THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO ARTICULATE ITS ANALYSIS IN REDUCING ALIMONY FROM \$600.00 TO \$150.00 PER MONTH.

Even if this court were to determine that the trial court did not err in determining that there occurred a substantial and material change in circumstances justifying modification, the trial court still did not adequately articulate its decision to reduce alimony to the specific amount of \$150.00 per month. While testimony and evidence were presented relating to the respective incomes and expenses of the parties, the court made no findings whatsoever relating to the factors it must pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §30-3-5(7).

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACT ARE INSUFFICIENT TO ALLOW FOR MEANINGFUL REVIEW.

A trial court must make findings on all material issues, and its failure to delineate what circumstances have changed and why these changes support the modification made in the prior divorce decree constitutes reversible error unless the facts in the record are clear and uncontroverted and only support the judgment. Muir v. Muir, 841 P.2d 736, 739 (Utah Ct. App. 1992) (quoting Whitehouse v. Whitehouse, 790 P.2d 57, 61 (Utah Ct. App. 1990)). The findings should be more than cursory statements; they must be sufficiently detailed and include enough

subsidiary facts to disclose the steps by which the ultimate conclusion on each factual issue was reached. Id. (quoting Acton v. J.B. Deliran, 737 P.2d 996, 999 (Utah 1987)). The absence of adequate findings of fact "ordinarily requires remand for more detailed findings by the trial court." Woodward 823 P.2d 474, 478 (Utah Ct. App. 1991).

In this case, the trial court concluded that there had occurred a material change in circumstances and then reduced Mr. Montague's alimony obligation from \$600.00 per month to \$150.00 per month. The findings, however, are conclusory almost in their entirety. They are woefully deficient and cannot be said to adequately support either the conclusions of law or ultimate ruling.

Firstly, there is no dispute that Mr. Montague's job loss constitutes a change in circumstances. What is disputed is whether the change in circumstances justifies modification. See, Bridenbaugh v. Bridenbaugh, 786 P.2d 241 (Utah Ct. App, 1990); Paffel v. Paffel, 732 P.2d 96, 103 (Utah 1986); Maughan v. Maughan, 770 P.2d 156, 161 (Utah Ct. App. 1989). In order to determine whether the change in circumstances justifies modification, the voluntariness of Mr. Montague's cessation of employment with the LDS Church is critical. It would be manifestly unjust and constitute bad public policy for the trial court to grant Mr. Montague an alimony reduction if he voluntary left his higher paying job. However, the only findings relating to Mr. Montague's job loss are:

1. "Mr. Montague lost his job of twenty plus years with the LDS Church."

(Findings of Fact and Order, p. 2); and

2. "...Mr Montague's actions did have something to do with the fact that he was terminatedbut he did not intend or want to be terminated from employment. The degree of culpability that would need to be attributed to him in connection with the loss of his job, to deny him the relief he seeks, does not exist." (Id.).

The first finding is not helpful because the wording "lost his job" could be applied to either a voluntary or involuntary cessation of employment. Likewise, the second finding is of no use because it is conclusory. There are no other detailed findings that give this Court any guidance in determining how the trial court reached the conclusion that the "degree of culpability" attributable to Mr. Montague "does not exist" or whether modification was justified as a threshold matter.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY DETERMINING THAT A CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES OCCURRED WHICH JUSTIFIES MODIFICATION.

The trial court's findings should be overturned only if they are clearly erroneous, and only where the trial court's judgment is so flagrantly unjust as to constitute an abuse of discretion. Thomas, 987 P.2d 603 (Utah Ct. App. 1999). Remand for adequate findings on a particular factual issue is unnecessary if the evidence concerning the issue is undisputed. Id.; Levitz v. Warrington, 877 P.2d 1245 (Utah Ct. App. 1994); State v. Lovegren, 798 P.2d 767 (Utah Ct. App. 1990). In this case the relevant facts are essentially undisputed. There is no dispute that Mr. Montague no longer holds his employment with the Church or that he now earns an income substantially less than that which he earned while employed with the LDS Church. There also is no dispute that at the July 13, 1998 meeting Mr. Montague was presented with four options and

that he later submitted a letter of resignation. What is at issue is proper application of the facts. At trial Mr. Montague argued that he resigned because he believed that going through the grievance procedure would be for naught, and because he was told and believed he would have lost his retirement benefits if he went through the Church's grievance procedure and lost. Appellant asserts that Mr. Montague's beliefs are irrelevant – that what is relevant is limited to Mr. Montague's act of resignation without even attempting to avail himself of the opportunity to keep his job.

A. CLEAR ERROR AND MANIFEST INJUSTICE.

The trial court's findings should be overturned only if they are clearly erroneous, and only where the trial court's judgment is so flagrantly unjust as to constitute an abuse of discretion. Thomas, 987 P.2d 603 (Utah Ct. App. 1999).

1. CLEAR ERROR.

In this case the trial court determined that Mr. Montague was terminated by the Church (R. 129). However, such a determination is clearly erroneous. Rulings in unemployment cases offer guidance as to whether Mr. Montague initiated the separation or whether it was initiated by the Church. In Lanier v. Industrial Commission, 694 P.2d 625 (Utah 1985), the Utah Supreme Court determined that the burden of proof in unemployment compensation proceedings falls upon the claimant to establish eligibility for benefits. Such a burden requires that a claimant show he did not leave work voluntarily, defining "voluntarily" as meaning "at the volition of the employee, in contrast to a firing or other termination at the behest of the employer." (Id). In Lanier, the Supreme Court also found relevant the fact, as is the case here, that the claimant "failed to protest

his termination through hospital grievance procedures with which he was familiar" as corroborative of an intent to voluntarily leave his employment. In SOS Staffing Services, Inc., v. Workforce Appeals Board, 983 P.2d 581, (Utah App 1999), this Court determined that in the context of an unemployment benefits claim the test for voluntariness in leaving employment is not the willingness of the employer that the employee continue working, but rather the willingness of the employee to continue. Thus, under this standard whether the LDS Church desired the employment relationship to end or continue is irrelevant. "Voluntarily leaving work means that the employee severed the employment relationship as contrasted to a separation initiated by the employer. This is true regardless of how compelling the claimant's reasons were for making the decision to leave the work." (citing Utah Code Admin. P. R994-405-101 (Supp. 1997)).

At trial Mr. Montague argued that at the July 13, 1998 meeting he was put into a situation where he was told either to resign or that he would be terminated. Marshaling the evidence in favor of the trial court's determination that Mr. Montague was terminated by the Church, the entire facts contained in the record in support thereof are minimal:

1. Mr. Montague did not want to lose his job with the Church. (R. 62);
2. Mr. Montague submitted a letter of resignation because he was told and believed that he was not wanted in Church employment any longer. (R. 18, 27-8, 45-6);
3. Mr. Montague submitted a letter of resignation because he was told and believed that if he went through the Church's grievance procedure and lost, he would lose his vested retirement benefits. (R. 26);

4. Two of the four options presented to Mr. Montague at the July 13, 1998 meeting were for him to resign or be terminated. (Exhibit 1, Addendum 1).

Appellant can find no other evidence which supports the conclusion that Mr. Montague was terminated. By contrast, the overwhelming weight of evidence points to the conclusion that Mr. Montague voluntarily resigned. At the July 13, 1998 meeting, two of the four options presented to Mr. Montague did not involve separation – following the grievance policy of the Church, and meeting with Gary Winters on Friday, July 17, 1998 to discuss his concerns. (Id.). After being presented with these options Mr. Montague was given two weeks of leave to think about his decision (Id.). The decision was placed squarely in Mr. Montague's hands as to what option he would elect. Mr. Montague then opted to sign a letter of resignation (R. 47, Exhibit 16, Addendum 4). He also signed an exit interview form wherein he acknowledged he had "decided to look for new employment." (Exhibit 17, Addendum 5). The Termination Worksheet in Mr. Montague's personnel file corroborated this action, indicating "resignation during probation" (Exhibit 19, Addendum 7). Further corroboration of voluntary resignation came from Mr. Montague's own testimony at trial:

"....I had a decision to make. Could I go on with my life and be happy or do I want to fight and be contentious and argumentative, and I'm tired of that. I don't want that anymore. **So I made a decision I'll just go on with my life, get another job where someone wanted me to work there.**" (R. 28 (Emphasis added)).

".... I had determined fairly quickly after that [July 13, 1998] meeting that I was simply going to go on with my life and try to do something better..." (R. 46).

Finally, Mr. Montague acknowledged that he gave no thought whatsoever to his alimony obligation to Ms. Montague in making his decision whether to resign or attempt to keep his employment. (R. 48-49).

The weight of the evidence also renders implausible Mr. Montague's self-serving assertion that he was told that if he went through the grievance procedure and lost, he would lose his vested retirement benefits. Firstly, Mr. Montague admitted that despite being given two weeks to make a decision, he made no investigation to determine the veracity of his claim that he was told if he went through the grievance procedure and lost that he would lose his vested benefits (R.46). Further, the grievance policy itself makes no reference to a loss of vested retirement benefits. (Exhibit 18, Addendum 6). Also, Dean Walker, then employed in the LDS Church's Human Resources department, and present at the July 13, 1998 meeting, testified that Exhibit 1, Addendum 1 was an accurate representation of his notes of the July 13, 1998 meeting, which also makes no reference to loss of vested retirement if going through the grievance procedure. (R. 72-73). Finally, Ron Garrison, then Director of Human Services for the Welfare Department for the Church, also present at the July 13, 1998 meeting, testified that he did not tell Mr. Montague that he would lose his retirement benefits if he were to go through the grievance procedure (R. 103). Mr. Garrison testified that Mr. Montague might even be considered for rehire if he were to apply (Exhibit 19, Addendum 7, R. 104-105).

Under these facts, it was clear error for the trial court to conclude that Mr. Montague was "terminated by the church." The trial court's statement that "it was pretty much a foregone conclusion that [Mr. Montague's] career was over with the Church" is purely speculative. If the

Church intended to terminate Mr. Montague it would have done so outright or presented Mr. Montague with only the first two options. It did not. The fact remains that Mr. Montague was provided with the opportunity to defend the allegations against him, and to argue a case for keeping his job. He elected not to do so and did not avail himself of either of the two options which might have prevented his job loss. It is unknown what would have occurred had he availed himself of either of those options. Mr. Montague voluntarily resigned and as such is not entitled to relief. Proctor v. Proctor, 773 P.2d 1389 (Utah Ct. App. 1989). "We agree with the trial court that an able-bodied person who stops working, as an exercise of personal preference . . . nonetheless retains the ability to earn and the duty to support . . ."

2. FLAGRANT INJUSTICE.

In this case the flagrant injustice flows from the trial court's erroneous determination that Mr. Montague was terminated by the Church. Mr. Montague's cessation of employment was voluntary. It is unjust to require Ms. Montague to bear the financial burden of Mr. Montague's voluntary actions. Mr. Montague was charged with an alimony obligation arising from a twenty four year marriage wherein he held full time employment with the LDS Church for equal duration. Then, less than two years after being ordered to pay alimony, he resigned from his career employment, making no attempt to retain his job even though presented with such opportunity. It is bad policy to relieve obligors such as Mr. Montague from the ongoing responsibility of attempting to maintain employment, to the extent possible, at or near his historical earning capacity, so as to fulfill his court-ordered obligation. Making such a ruling, the trial court essentially sends the message to obligors that one has no duty to attempt to retain

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