2000

Montague v. Montague : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

⁹⁴ Record page 418. Addendum F.

⁹⁵ Transcript page 122, line 22. In Closing argument Mr. Minas states:
“You're not going to get an argument from me that there hasn't been a change of circumstances because there has.”

“THE COURT: Thank you. Counsel, as to the first issue which I’ll state the issue as precisely as I can, whether there’s a material change of circumstances which justifies a change in the alimony arrangement, I find in favor of Mr. Montague that there was such a material change in circumstance. As Mr. Minas said there’s no real dispute that there was a change economically.

“I find that he was terminated by the Church. . . the notes and the evidence makes it clear even on the date that he took his two week leave of absence it was reported in the minutes that he cleaned out his desk and left.

“It seemed to me that it was pretty much of a foregone conclusion that his career was over with the church. That that was what the church was really in effect demanding. . . I don’t find it to be unreasonable or disqualifying . . . that he didn’t pursue a grievance procedure for what he may well reasonably have concluded was a foregone conclusion that he was going to lose his job.

“The issue of what degree was he culpable and to what degree should that culpability for his losing his job bear on his right to claim a change of circumstances is a difficult question. . .

“It seems to me that Mr. Montague did not wish to lose his job. It was undoubtedly, from the evidence in the case, a very traumatic, a very painful experience for him. I find that the degree of voluntariness the court thinks is necessary to disqualify a person for a claim of change of circumstances on the basis it was voluntarily under employment just were not met here and the standard that is required to that is not available to the defendant to defeat the claim that was being asserted by Mr. Montague.

“And I find that he made a reasonable effort, an effort that’s consistent with what is required under the law to find substantive employment. I find it not difficult to accept the proposition that after searching very hard he found only employment for a far lesser wage. I think that’s -- that’s what would be expected under the circumstances without a better education, without a more precise kind of skill that could be sold to other employers.” [Emphasis added]⁹⁶

⁹⁶ Transcript page 128, line 25 and continuing through page 131.

Mrs. Montague's assertion that the findings are inadequate as a matter of law, is simply wrong. The court not only made findings on all the material subordinate and ultimate factual issues, but stated them with specificity.

The economic change of circumstances was admitted. The Judge's reasoning behind his finding as to the involuntary nature of Mr. Montague's discharge are clear. Judge Bohling also explained Mike's efforts to find a new job were all that could be expected he also explained why it was reasonable to expect him to become re-employed at a lower wage. Judge Bohling's finding on this issue as cited above is a good summary, and legally adequate.

Issue #2

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN FINDING THAT A CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES WARRANTING REVIEW HAD OCCURRED.

Rule 52 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure says, with regard to findings of fact, that:

“... Findings of fact, whether based on oral or documentary evidence, shall not be set aside unless clearly erroneous, and due regard shall be given to the opportunity of the trial court to judge the credibility of witnesses. . .”

Judge Bohling had the opportunity to assess the credibility of witnesses at trial.

Mrs. Montague claims that Judge Bohling's finding that there was a change of circumstances, is clearly erroneous, an abuse of his discretion, and/or not supported by the weight of the credible evidence. She must assume, and meet the burdens associated with making that claim. Mrs. Montague's burden is to marshal all the evidence from trial to support the finding, and then demonstrate, that despite the evidence, that the trial court's findings are so lacking in support as to be against the clear weight of the evidence, thus making them clearly erroneous. Mrs. Montague's burden is colorfully outlined in the case of West Valley City v. Majestic Inv. Co., 818 P.2d 1311, 1315 (Ut. Ct. App. 1991) in which this Court states:

“The marshaling process is not unlike becoming the devil's advocate. Counsel from extricate himself or herself from the client's shoes, and fully assume the adversary's position. In order to properly discharge the duty of marshaling the evidence, the challenger must present in comprehensive and fastidious order, every scrap of competent evidence introduced at trial which supports the very findings the appellant resists. After constructing this magnificent array of supporting evidence, the challenger must ferret out the fatal flaw in the evidence. The gravity of this flaw must be sufficient to convince the appellate court that the court's finding rests upon evidence that is clearly erroneous.”

When an appellant fails to meet that “heavy burden” of marshaling the evidence, we “assume that the record supports the finding of the court.”⁹⁷

Mrs. Montague concedes that there was an economic change in circumstances.

What she claims is that Judge Bohling incorrectly concluded that Mr. Montague's loss of

⁹⁷ Wade v. Stangl, 869 P.2d 9, 12 (Ut. Ct. App. 1994).

employment was not voluntary. She believes the court should have found Mr. Montague to be voluntarily under employed.

Judge Bohling's specific finding on this point was:

"The Court finds that Mr. Montague's actions did have something to do with the fact that he was terminated with his employer, the LDS church, but that he did not want or intend to be terminated from employment. The degree of culpability that would need to be attributed to him in connection with the loss of his job to deny him the relief he seeks does not exist." [Emphasis added]⁹⁸

Again, quoting more broadly from Judge Bohling's ruling made at the time of trial, explaining his findings Judge Bohling said:

"THE COURT: Thank you. Counsel, as to the first issue which I'll state the issue as precisely as I can, whether there's a material change of circumstances which justifies a change in the alimony arrangement, I find in favor of Mr. Montague that there was such a material change in circumstance. As Mr. Minas said there's no real dispute that there was a change economically.

"I find that he was terminated by the church. That the procedure that was followed was certainly a procedure that allowed certain kinds of actions to question the termination, but the notes and the evidence makes it clear even on the date that he took his two week leave of absence it was reported in the minutes that he cleaned out his desk and left.

"It seemed to me that it was pretty much of a foregone conclusion that his career was over with the church. That that was what the church was really in effect demanding. He had some legal rights to pursue, that I don't find it to be unreasonable or disqualifying of the conclusion were reached the fact that he didn't pursue a grievance procedure for what he may well reasonably have concluded was a foregone conclusion that he was going to lose his job.

⁹⁸ Findings of Fact, paragraph 2. Record 418. Addendum F.

“The issue of what degree was he culpable and to what degree should that culpability for his losing his job bear on his right to claim a change of circumstances is a difficult question. We certainly did not have the same level of attention to this termination that would happen in a had a suit been brought challenging the church’s action.

“There’s undisputed evidence that Ms. Sandy Thomas his supervisor, his former colleague, acted in a way which seems to be petty and trivial in all the evidence that the court has before it but, again, the court would note that it doesn’t have the full facts. Ms. Thomas didn’t testify. Certainly [the court] would not attempt to make any conclusions on issue of that go to the merits of the termination other than just the observation from what evidence was presented to this court.

“It seems to me that Mr. Montague did not wish to lose his job. It was undoubtedly, from the evidence in the case, a very traumatic, a very painful experience for him. I find that the degree of voluntariness the court thinks is necessary to disqualify a person for a claim of change of circumstances on the basis it was voluntarily under employment just were not met here and the standard that is required to that is not available to the defendant to defeat the claim that was being asserted by Mr. Montague.

“And I find that he made a reasonable effort, an effort that’s consistent with what is required under the law to find substantive employment. I find it not difficult to accept the proposition that after searching very hard he found only employment for a far lesser wage. I think that’s -- that’s what would be expected under the circumstances without a better education, without a more precise kind of skill that could be sold to other employers.” [Emphasis added]⁹⁹

Judge Bohling found that Mr. Montague “did not intend or want to be terminated from employment”.¹⁰⁰ Judge Bohling further said, “I find that he was terminated by the

⁹⁹ Transcript page 128, line 25 and continuing through page 131.

¹⁰⁰ Findings of Fact, Record page 418. Addendum F.

church”.¹⁰¹ Judge Bohling stated;

“It seemed to me that it was pretty much a foregone conclusion that his career was over with the Church. That was what the church was really in effect demanding.”

In support of this conclusion by the trial court, Judge Bohling said that some of the complaints expressed against Mike Montague were “petty and trivial”.¹⁰² Mr. Montague’s supervisors, who asked him to resign, admitted that he was being fired. Ron Garrison, the director of human resources, who explained Mike’s options to him, said resigning was Mike’s alternative to being fired.¹⁰³ With regard to the claim that Mike should have pursued a grievance procedure trying to hang on to his job, Judge Bohling said:

“It seemed to me that it was pretty much of a foregone conclusion that his career was over with the church. That that was what the church was really in effect demanding. He had some legal rights to pursue, that I don’t find it to be unreasonable or disqualifying of the conclusion were reached the fact that he didn’t pursue a grievance procedure for what he may well reasonably have concluded was a foregone conclusion that he was going to lose his job.”¹⁰⁴

Mrs. Montague then quotes unemployment cases argued before the Industrial Commission, and talks about who has the burden of proof in establishing eligibility for benefits. This is irrelevant. This case does not involve a claim for benefits before the

¹⁰¹ Transcript page 129, line 7.

¹⁰² Transcript page 130, line 5.

¹⁰³ Transcript page 106, line 8.

¹⁰⁴ Transcript page 129, line 14.

Industrial Commission. Judge Bohling found, based on very good evidence that although Mr. Montague signed a resignation form prepared by the church, in fact he had no choice and was terminated. Judge Bohling found that he did not want to be terminated, and that he had done very thing he could, under the circumstances, to replace his income. Judge Bohling explained that with his educational background, Mr. Montague could not be reasonably expected to get a better replacement employment. Judge Bohling found that Mr. Montague was not underemployed. The evidence showed that it was a foregone conclusion that Mike's employment with the church was over. The grievance procedure was meaningless. There is no point in trying to enforce the right to an odious work relationship.

Mrs. Montague claims that she should be relieved of her burden of marshaling the facts in a light most favorable to the lower court, and then show the fatal flaws. She then proceeds to recite the few facts, and directs the court's attention to a few documents favorable to her if looked at alone, without the surrounding and contrary evidence.

Mrs. Montague misguidedly cites this court to Levitz v. Warrington, 877 P.2d 1245 (Ut. Ct. App. 1994) and State v. Loveglen, 798 P.2d 767 (Ut. Ct. App. 1990) for the proposition that remand for particular findings on an issue are unnecessary if the evidence concerning the issue is undisputed. These cases may stand for the proposition cited, but the facts of this case are so dissimilar so as to make that case law inapplicable.

First, the issues surrounding Mr. Montague's termination as to whether it was

voluntary or not, were hotly disputed, not uncontested. Secondly, the out of context statements and documents referred to by Mrs. Montague cannot be considered alone. They must be considered against all the other evidence that supported Judge Bohling's finding that Mike was not voluntarily underemployed.

Mrs. Montague does not, because she cannot, marshal all the evidence and show that if taken in a light most favorable to the court below that the finding on Mike's loss of his job is unsupported by the greater weight of the credible evidence.

Mrs. Montague's arguments of flagrant injustice are not about flagrant injustice, but rather general equity arguments that Judge Bohling should have forced Mike through the grievance procedure, to try and hang on to a job with an employer who did not want him anymore.

Because Judge Bohling did find that Mike's job loss was involuntary, the argument that such a finding is a prerequisite to revisiting the alimony issue is also irrelevant.

Mike Montague was involuntarily terminated, and he found the best replacement employment he could.

Issue #3

THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS AS TO THE ALIMONY AMOUNT WERE
ADEQUATE.

In Moana Montague's third point of argument on appeal, she claims the trial court

failed to articulate its analysis in reducing alimony from \$600.00 to \$150.00 per month.

This objection again is to the adequacy of the findings, and is not an objection that the findings are not supported by the weight of the credible evidence. The findings the Judge made on this issue were based on the uncontroverted testimony of the parties and the admission of Moana Montague that there had been an economic change of circumstances.

The court's findings again were:

- "A. Mr. Montague Lost his job of twenty plus years with the LDS Church.
- B. His income has decreased substantially.
- C. He has remarried and moved out of his mother's house.
- D. His former wife, the Respondent, now works full-time."¹⁰⁵

With regard to the clear economic change of circumstances, the court could not have articulated better the elements considered in an alimony consideration.

In saying Moana Montague made more money, he found that the financial condition of Moana Montague had improved. He also found that Moana's earning ability had gone from part-time to full-time. He also found that Mr. Montague had increased expenses and decreased income, which speaks to the ability of the payor spouse to provide support.

The length of the marriage was not an issue, and in this case, the recipient spouse did not have custody of any minor children.

When it comes to the court's actual finding about the amount of the reduction, the

¹⁰⁵ Record page 418, Addendum F.

court published a finding which states that:

“The Court finds that the Petitioner Mr. Montague, has an ability to assist his former wife in paying alimony, however, said ability is substantially reduced since the time of trial. The Court also finds that the Respondent, Mr. Montague’s former wife, continues to have a need for alimony, but that her need is substantially reduced since the time of trial. The Court further finds that Mrs. Montague now needs, and Mr. Montague now has the ability to pay \$150.00 per month as alimony.”¹⁰⁶

The case law does not require that the court publish its calculations, only that the underlying evidence support the finding, and the outcome. Even if there was no finding by the court as to why there should have been a reduction or what it should have been, it would not be prejudicial error as long as “the evidence was clear and uncontroverted and not susceptible to another interpretation.”¹⁰⁷

Judge Bohling explained his calculations in his ruling. He said that he was making certain adjustments to the income and expenses that were claimed by the parties on their exhibits. Their respective exhibits on income and expenses were undisputed. The parties agreed on this information.

Please look at the Financial Declarations the parties identified at trial as fairly

¹⁰⁶ Record page 418, Addendum F.

¹⁰⁷ Kinkella v. Baugh, 660 P.2d 233 (Utah 1983) which states:

“a finding on that issue should have been made. Nevertheless, the court’s failure to do so in this case was not reversible error because the facts in the record as to licensure are clear, uncontroverted, and capable of supporting only a finding in favor of the judgment. Therefore, the failure of the trial court to make that finding is harmless error.”

reflecting their incomes and expenses. Neither party attacked the claimed figures offered by the other. The income and expenses outlined on the Financial Declarations of the parties at trial¹⁰⁸ are summarized below.

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